
i

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE,
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX

Telephone:  01730 266551
Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Thursday, 3 October 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX

Membership:      Councillor S Pond (Chairman)

Councillors A Williams (Vice-Chairman), D Ashcroft, F Cowper, D Evans, 
A Glass, S Hunt, C Louisson, P Langley, S Schillemore, N Taylor, I Thomas 
and E Woodard

Reserves:  Councillors K Budden, S Burns, K Carter, M Johnson                   
and T Maroney

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS)

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

David Brown
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: Wednesday, 25 September 2019

Contact Officer: Lisa Papps 01730 234073
Email:  lisa.papps@easthants.gov.uk

Working in Partnership



ii

Page Nos
1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Confirmation of Minutes  

Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes.

Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2019, circulated under 
separate cover. 

3. Chairman's Announcements  

4. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter. 

Matters for Decision
5. Acceptance of Supplementary Matters  

6. Future Items  9 - 10

7. Report of the Director of Regeneration and Place  

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items

Section I
7.(i)  58000/002/FUL/JonH - Land between Coombe Dell and Teazles, 

Alton Lane, Four Marks, Alton  
Mr R Walls

Use of land for stationing of two x mobile homes, two x touring 
caravans, detached utility/day room and formation of permeable 
hardstanding and related parking for residential use for two gypsy 
families (as amended by plans received 23 March 2019 and 1 July 
2019)

Associated documents - https://tinyurl.com/yapqvnaz

11 - 36

https://tinyurl.com/yapqvnaz
https://tinyurl.com/yapqvnaz


iii

Section II

There are no Section 2 items within this agenda

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items

There are no Part 2 items within this agenda



iv



v

GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.

Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.

No Smoking Policy

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and grounds

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/




PLANNING COMMITTEE

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority.

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can 
determine planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area 
of the district on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South 
Downs National Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP. 

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT

The report is divided into two main parts; 

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.  

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which 
the Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National 
Park Authority.  

Each part of the report is split into two sections:  

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations 

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, 
details of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items.

Section 2 – Other matters 

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse. 



No formal presentation will be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be 
no public participation.”

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are 
understood to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in 
advance of the Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports 
may have been prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or 
neighbour comment.  Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially 
amended between preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where 
additional information has been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper 
will be circulated at the meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to 
members of the public.

3. PLANNING POLICY

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material 
policies or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application 
should be determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are 
other material considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and 
other material considerations will also be taken into account.  One such 
consideration will be whether the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The 
relevant development plans are the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East 
Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 2014, the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Housing and Employment Allocations 2016 and the saved policies in the East 
Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006.  The Development Plan also 
includes made neighbourhood Plans.

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the  report on each item.  

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February  2019 
states:  “Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise.”  

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development 
that departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it 
should proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-
date in terms of housing delivery.  

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also 
fairly and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters 
of what constitutes a material consideration.  All the fundamental factors involved in 



land-use planning are included, such as the number, size, layout, siting, design, and 
external appearance of buildings and the proposed means of access, together with 
landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, and the availability of infrastructure.  

4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are:
 loss of property value  loss of view
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants
 the impact of construction work  property maintenance issues
 need for development (save in 

certain defined circumstances)
 the identity or personal characteristics of 

the applicant
 competition between firms,  or matters that are dealt with by other 

legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not a 
reason to refuse planning permission or 
defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation.

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  
Nevertheless, where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to 
relevant considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.  

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because 
there are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its 
merits in the light of all the material considerations. 

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a 
clear land-use planning justification for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way 
that is clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special 
and precise justification. 

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations 
should meet the Secretary of State's policy tests.  They should be: 
 necessary;
 relevant to planning;
 directly related to the proposed development;
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and
 reasonable in all other respects.



5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that 
planning permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for 
unacceptable development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements 
offered by a developer, which are not necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration 
to be taken into account when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it 
is for the Council to decide what weight should be attached to a particular material 
consideration. 

6. PLANNING APPEALS 
Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the specified period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it:

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time.

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance.

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show 
clearly, why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be

 complete, 
 precise, 
 specific
 relevant to the application, and
 supported by substantiated evidence. 

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice 

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence.

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal 
but rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision.

(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed.

The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council:
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF,
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach. 



An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 77 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site,

(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law,
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable,

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the 
planning authority where circumstances have not materially changed,

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances,

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage,

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions,

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 56 of the NPPF, or

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters.

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an 
application to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. 
In general, this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State 
will not interfere with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is 
necessary to do so.  The Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of 
development proposals that directs local authorities to consult with the Secretary of 
State before granting planning permission.

8. PROPRIETY
8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in 

planning matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning 
applications they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can 
include views expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support 
for a proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, 
unless it is founded upon valid planning reasons. 

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS 

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the 
public interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and 
private interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not 
whether owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience financial 



or other loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would 
unacceptably affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought 
to be protected in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of 
private property are therefore not material planning consideration.

10.OTHER LEGISLATION 

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular: 

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities. 

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for 
providing a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by 
providing a lower standard of service. 

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain 
and promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic 
rights of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in 
order to protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The specific 
Articles of the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and 
public hearing), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and 
correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of 
property).  All planning applications are assessed to make sure that the 
subsequent determination of the development proposal is compatible with the 
Act.  If there is a potential conflict, this will be highlighted in the report on the 
relevant item.


11.PUBLIC SPEAKING
11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 

Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak 
must have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 
hours before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at 
the Committee meeting itself.

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will 
be allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the 
Committee meeting.  

12. INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 

http://www.easthats.gov.uk/


at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The 
files and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect.

13.FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the 
event of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s 
decision.  Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications 
may result in the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning 
appeal.  Officers will aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide 
appropriate advice in such circumstances.

Simon Jenkins
Director of Regeneration and Place

Background Papers:

 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case)
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014
 East Hampshire Employment & Housing allocations Plan 2016
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies
 Adopted Neighbourhood Plans: Alton, Bentley, Medstead & Four Marks and 

Petersfield
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements
 any other document specifically referred to in the report.





PLANNING COMMITTEE

3 October 2019

POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE / SITE VISIT

The following items are for INFORMATION purposes only.  They comprise major 
applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for 
consideration or are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by 
the Committee or determined under the Scheme of Delegation.  The purpose of this report 
is to highlight the receipt of these applications to ensure that any issues that they raise are 
highlighted at an early stage.  Councillors may also suggest possible future site visits 
under this item.

Reference Description and Address
1 55638/001 Outline Application for residential development of 23 new 

dwellings with associated residential curtilages, parking, 
garaging, vehicular access and earthworks / 
landscaping.(access to be considered)

Land between, 60-86 Wilsom Road, Alton

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined.

2 25050/059 Hybrid planning application for mixed-use development and 
demolition of existing buildings and structures. Full elements 
include 187 dwellings (including market and affordable 
housing and 4 wheelchair accessible units for Treloar 
College) 70 bedroom care home and 58 associated assisted 
living (extra care) units, conversion of Culverton House to 5 
apartments (with associated listed building consent) and 
associated infrastructure, parking and landscaping including 
opening up the River Wey corridor.  Outline elements include 
up to 2000 sqm of flexible employment space within use class 
B1(a) and B1(c) and potential ancillary cafe (use class A3) 
(on 0.46ha site) with associated parking and landscaping - all 
matters reserved

Molson Coors Brewing Co, Manor Park, Lower Turk 
Street, Alton, GU34 2PS

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined.







PART 1

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

Applications to be determined by the
Council as the Local Planning Authority

3 October 2019

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

Item No.:  01

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Use of land for stationing of two x mobile homes, two x touring 
caravans, detached utility/day room and formation of permeable 
hardstanding and related parking for residential use for two gypsy 
families (as amended by plans received 23 March 2019 and 1 July 
2019)

LOCATION: Land between Coombe Dell and Teazles, Alton Lane, Four Marks, Alton
REFERENCE : 58000/002 PARISH:Four Marks
APPLICANT: Mr R Walls
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY :

16 July 2019

APPLICATION 
EXPIRY :

01 May 2019

COUNCILLORS: Councillor J May, Councillor D B Tennyson, Councillor I C Thomas
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION



This application is included on the agenda at the discretion of the Service Director for 
Regeneration and Place.

Site and Development

Site

The site comprises an area of land that has been cleared of trees/scrub on the eastern side of 
Alton Lane in Four Marks. The site slopes gently to the south and is situated between two 
dwellings; 'Teazles' to the north and 'Coombe Dell' to the south with countryside to the rear. 
Development along Alton Lane follows a linear pattern with dwellings generally set in 
spacious plots and retaining hedging to boundaries. Buildings are of varying styles and mostly 
date to the mid/late twentieth century and include single-storey, two-storey and chalet style 
buildings. The residential development is mixed with areas of open agricultural/grazing land 
giving a rural character to the area. A garden centre approximately 150m to the north-east of 
the site is a prominent feature in the area and a public footpath extends from the access to 
the garden centre southwards, on the southern side of a hedgerow, approximately 50m to the 
rear of the site. The site is outside the Settlement Boundary of Four Marks and thus within an 
area where the Countryside policies of the development plan apply.

Development

The application seeks full planning permission for the siting of two mobile homes and a space 
for two touring caravans, providing two pitches for gypsy accommodation.  A day room 
building would be shared between the two units and measures 10m by 8m with a ridge height 
of 4.5m.  Vehicular access to the site would be in the northern side of the site that fronts onto 
Alton Lane and would serve both of the pitches.  Boundary treatment is proposed to be native 
species hedgerow to all sides.

Relevant Planning History

No planning history.

Development Plan Policies and Proposals

The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2019) sets out 
the circumstances when emerging planning policies may be given weight in determining 
planning applications. Based on the current early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan 
policies are currently afforded no weight. 



East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP2 - Spatial Strategy
CP10 - Spatial strategy for housing
CP15 - Gypsies, travellers & travelling showpeople
CP19 - Development in the countryside
CP20 - Landscape
CP25 - Flood Risk
CP27 - Pollution
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport
CP32 - Infrastructure

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan (2016)

Policy 1 – Spatial Plan

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February 2019

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

 1. Introduction
 2. Achieving sustainable development 
 4. Decision-making 
 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
 9. Promoting sustainable transport 
12. Achieving well-designed places 
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) (2015)
Sets out national guidance for planning for traveller sites and determining applications.

East Hampshire Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment 
(GTAA) (Aug 2017)
Provides an evidence based assessment of current and future accommodation needs for 
gypsies, traveller and travelling showpeople in the East Hampshire area including a 
breakdown for the area covered by the South Downs National Park.



East Hampshire Five Year Supply of deliverable land for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople (As at 31 March 2019)
Sets out the five-year supply position in East Hampshire District (excluding the South Downs 
National Park) as required by the PPTS.

East Hampshire Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 2018

Village Design Statement - Four Marks Village Design Statement - non statutory planning 
guidance that has been the subject of public consultation and therefore is a material planning 
consideration.

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

EHDC Planning Policy Team - 

Existing level of local provision and need for Traveller sites (including five year supply) 
As documented in the GTAA 2017, as at March 2017 (the base date of the GTAA 2017) there 
were 13 private sites with permanent planning permission for 22 pitches identified in the 
district. There were no temporary sites. 

For those meeting the PPTS definition, the GTAA 2017 identifies a need for 25 traveller 
pitches by 2036. The additional need by 2036 from ‘unknowns’ could be as few as 1, but 
could be up to 7. This makes a total need of at least 26 pitches. A need of 6 pitches for those 
who do not meet the PPTS is identified. 

The need between 2017 and 2022 for those meeting the PPTS definition is 18. Add to this 1 
unknown, making an overall total need of 19 pitches between 2017 and 2022 for those 
meeting the planning definition.

Since March 2017 (base date of the GTAA 2017), 8 Traveller pitches with planning 
permission have been completed.  This reduces the need to 2022 to 11.  There are 15 pitches 
with planning permission that have not yet been built. There are pending planning 
applications for Traveller accommodation, which until determined cannot be considered in 
terms of supply, if permitted.

Only sites that are considered deliverable within the next five years should be included in the 
five year supply. PPTS says that to meet this criteria, a site should be “available now, offer a 
suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that 
housing will be delivered on the site within five years and in particular that development of the 
site is viable. Sites with planning permission should be considered deliverable until 
permission expires, unless there is clear evidence that schemes will not be implemented 
within five years, for example they will not be viable, there is no longer a demand for the type 
of units or sites have long term phasing plans.” 



The Council publishes an East Hampshire 5 Year Supply of Deliverable Land for Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation. The current publication is dated 31 
March 2019 and shows 3.6 years supply of deliverable land for Traveller pitches at that point 
in time. However, since then (up to 31 May 2019), 6 further pitches have been granted 
planning permission (refs: 57957 and 56027/18). These additional pitches provide further 
supply, exceeding five years’ worth. 

PPTS states, “If a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up–to-date 5 year supply of 
deliverable sites, this should be a significant material consideration in any subsequent 
planning decision when considering applications for the grant of temporary planning 
permission. The exception is where the proposal is on land designated as Green Belt; sites 
protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives and / or sites designated as Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest; Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, or within a 
National Park (or the Broads).” 

The position at 31 March 2019 shows the absence of a five year supply, however recent 
permissions do serve to add sufficient provision to exceed five years supply.  When 
recalculated at the next monitoring report, supply is likely to exceed five years’ worth. 

There is currently a reasonable amount of supply. The presence of supply does not prevent 
all other considerations (as required by the Development Plan, and the PPTS) being 
considered and weighted.  It should be noted, that the need is not a ceiling target, and did not 
include the need of any travellers in bricks and mortar housing, and as such could be higher. 
The key matter is the suitability of the site for the proposed use, with supply being one 
material consideration.  

Historic unmet need

Whilst the full need for Traveller pitches between 2013 and 2017 identified in the GTAA 
(2013) was not provided in full, with 8 pitches remaining, the GTAA (2017) presents a needs 
assessment at a point in time, and to add back in 8 pitches to the need would potentially likely 
double count. However, it is acknowledged that the GTAA notes from the Census 2011 that 
there is a significant population of ethnic travellers living in bricks and mortar housing (92 in 
total), of which their potential need is not accounted for in the GTAA 2017 (due to no 
interviews being possible despite attempts to locate and contact). Whilst there may be historic 
unmet need within this population, it is not possible to disaggregate this figure by area (i.e. 
South Downs National Park / EHDC), the data is from 2011 and thus potentially dated, and it 
is not possible to determine a quantum that may meet the planning definition of Traveller. 
Thus whilst an element of potential historic unmet need is acknowledged, it is not possible to 
quantify. 

Wider unmet need 

There is a general unmet need nationally and regionally. At present, there is no known 
quantified planned unmet need in the wider area. 



Legal considerations

Romany Gypsies and Scottish and Irish Travellers are recognised ethnic groups who have 
needs relevant to their ethnicity and culture, and all the duties on public bodies under the 
Equalities Act 2010, Human Rights Act 1998 and relevant case law apply.

It is vital that the welfare of any children on site is assessed, and that the correct legal 
phraseology is used when doing so.  Consideration is likely to include reference to the 
following: 

 The Human Rights of the occupiers

 The Council’s duty under the Equalities Act

 The European Convention on the Rights of the Child

If the Council is minded to approve an application without a personal condition, whilst not 
being weighed in the planning balance, any personal circumstances in relation to the legal 
framework listed above should be noted to demonstrate the Council has been aware of these 
considerations.  If the Council is minded to grant a permission with a personal condition, due 
consideration needs to be given to how these weigh in the planning balance. 

If the Council is minded to refuse the application, it should be fully aware that the rights of the 
child (including any unborn child) is “a paramount consideration” and starts on the same 
footing as the most serious planning harm that can be identified. Whilst the rights of the child 
is not “the paramount consideration”, no other consideration can be put above it. Any potential 
reason for refusal would need to demonstrate the harm identified and record in the reason for 
refusal how it how been considered in relation to acknowledging the rights of the child as “a 
paramount consideration”. 

Planning balance

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
Primarily, the policy considerations need to be determined with regards to the status of PPTS 
as a material consideration. 

The starting point for determining the application is whether the site is suitable for a Traveller 
pitch (as proposed). Whilst supply is a material consideration, the key issue is the suitability of 
the site for the proposed use. 

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
amount of supply and any unmet need, the timescales for future allocations, the potential 
absence of alternative sites and the considerations requiring weight to be attributed under 
Policy H of PPTS are all material considerations. 



However, these material considerations need to be weighed with considerations listed in 
relation to impact on the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, the open nature of 
the countryside (PPTS) and development in the countryside (CP19). 

EHDC Drainage Consultant - No objection subject to a condition.

County Highway Officer - No objection.

Hampshire Fire Service - No objection. 

EHDC Traffic Management Team - A visitor space for each pitch would be expected.

County Ecologist - Comments that the site appears to have been recently cleared and 
formerly contained woodland/scrub. It is therefore inevitable that any ecological interest will 
have been lost as a result and it is highly regrettable that this has occurred. The site as it 
currently exists is therefore unlikely to be of ecological value.  The County Ecologist requests 
that any landscaping scheme utilises locally-appropriate native species in order to provide 
some degree of ecological value. 

County Rights of Way Officer - No comments received.

Four Marks Parish Council - Four Marks Parish Council strongly object to this proposal. 

Alton Lane is rural in character with 45 residential premises separated by 18 fields along a 
mile long stretch. The proposed site is between two detached bungalow properties, with no 
buffer areas. The structures and caravans proposed in this application would, given the in-fill 
nature of the site, have an adverse effect on both immediate neighbours and existing street 
scene, creating a loss of amenity, privacy, potential loss of light dependent upon screening 
provided, and increased noise in a rural countryside location. 

The proposal as submitted will result in a large area of hard standing, which is completely out 
of character with this location and would be visually unappealing, especially as there is, 
currently, no proposal for landscaping within this application. 

The Parish Council have several concerns with the application itself, as follows:
 The Block plan contains hand drawn representations of the mobile homes, parking 

spaces, caravan pitches and combined day rooms, and although on a scale map, there 
are no dimensions shown, therefore it is not possible to ascertain whether they are to 
scale, whether there is over development of the plot, or non-compliant with fire 
regulations, on this 0.18 hectare site. 

 The planning statement (covering letter) appears to relate to a different application and 
contains some factual inaccuracies:

 Based on the ORS report of need, the 5YLS requirement is quoted as 19 pitches to 2022 
in the District, not 20+ as the applicant states;



 There is reference to an existing planning approval which applies and acknowledges that 
the site is located within reasonable distance of all facilities. All applications should be 
dealt with individually, and not compared to other developments, near or far to the 
application site. This site is over a kilometre from all local facilities.

 Adequate provision for access, parking and turning: reference to existing planning 
approval applies. There is no detail of the access provision; no visitor parking provision, no 
scaled measured access, swept path analysis or visibility splay and sight lines provided.

 Capable of accommodating the number of caravans/mobile homes proposed. 'The 
proposed new pitch would be within the curtilage of an existing approved site, which site is 
referenced? 

 Can be adequately screened or landscaped to blend the site into its surrounding. In 
response this there is another reference to existing planning approval and landscape 
scheme for the current approved development on site and can easily be extended. There 
is no existing planning approval or current development or option to extend at the Alton 
Lane site. 

 Is capable of being provided with essential services, essential services are already on site 
and therefore, there will be no additional pressure. What services are already on site?

The Parish Council shares residents significant concerns for safety, especially that the Fire 
Service's minimum guideline separation distances for caravans is not met on this site. This 
proposal would materially harm this semi-rural location, which is well outside of the 
Settlement Policy Boundary. It is visually intrusive and out of character with the existing 
pattern of low density countryside development. The proposal will be dominant in scale and 
have a detrimental impact on, and conflict with the local amenity, therefore it is contrary to 
policies CP15, CP19 and CP29 of the East Hampshire District Council Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy, paragraph 7 of the NPPF, and paragraphs 25 and 26 of Policy H of the Planning 
Policy for Traveller Sites.

Taking all the concerns into consideration and prior to deliberating this application, or decision 
made, the Parish Council would request that the applicant:
1. Provides an amended and factually correct and applicable planning statement.
2. Provides a to scale block plan with mobile homes, caravans, day rooms, parking, and 
access dimensions shown to scale and relevant dimensions visible. 
3. Provides a detailed report showing a clear access point, with a correct visibility splay and 
sight lines commensurate with this rural lane's national speed limit of 60 mph, turning area 
and swept path analysis, and parking provision, including visitor parking. 
4. Provides a detailed landscaping and screening plan to include clear indications of semi-
mature and mature indigenous and evergreen species proposed and projected 5 year growth, 
internal areas should be landscaped to break up the hard standing and blend into the rural 
environment, and a children's play area provided to encourage healthy lifestyles (PPTS policy 
H). The landscape proposal should also show the retention of any existing trees and 
boundary hedgerows and additional native planting 



5. Provides a detailed report to ensure that the likely increased water run-off is attenuated on 
site and not increase flood risk elsewhere, show the proposed permeable hard standing is 
proved to be such by testing, and the surface water drainage system appropriate for site. The 
sewage water treatment plant must be designed in accordance with site percolation rates and 
the ability to disperse treated water across a required land area. 
6. Provides a fully detailed external lighting proposal for approval, containing specifications of 
lighting furniture type, bulb type with wattage, number and positioning. This should be 
minimal, low level and respectful of the South Downs National Park and Four Marks Village 
Design Statements dark skies policies.

Whilst the Parish Council are sympathetic to the Gypsy & Traveller needs identified District 
wide, the provision of sites should be proportionate throughout the District. Four Marks has 
already provided over 50% of the District's need in this regard and believe that this should be 
taken into consideration when deliberating this application, with a revised Five Year Land 
Supply calculation being made also before any final Officer delegated or Planning Committee 
decision is made. 

However, should the Planning Officer or EHDC Planning Committee be minded to approve 
this application, and the requested reports are not provided, the Parish Council would 
respectfully ask for the following conditions be applied to the approval. 

 Landscaping. We request the same Condition as applied to the EHDC Planning 
Committee Decisions 28th March 2019 for applications 56027/014 /15 & /16. "The 
development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until a fully detailed 
landscape and planting scheme for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and in accordance with the recommendations of the appropriate British 
Standards or other recognised codes of good practice. These works shall be carried out in 
the first planting season after practical completion or first occupation of the development, 
whichever is earlier, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are removed, 
die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably 
practicable with others of species, size and number as originally approved unless a 
suitable alternative species are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to enable 
proper consideration to be given to the impact of the proposed development on existing 
trees.

 Drainage and Sewage Treatment. "The proposals will generate increased run-off, which 
must be attenuated on site and not increase flood risk elsewhere. Ground conditions are 
likely to be clay with flints overlying chalk at depth. The site is indicated as permeable 
hardstanding, but this will need to be proved by satisfactory site percolation tests. The 
surface water drainage system must be designed to cater for the 1:100 year + 30% 
climate change event. It is noted that foul drainage will discharge to a sewage treatment 
plant and associated drainage field. Again, this will need to be designed in accordance 



with site percolation rates. No objections in principle, subject to satisfactory drainage 
systems for both foul and surface water. These can be covered by Conditions DR02 and 
DR04, supported by a detailed drainage layout, run-off calculations for the peak event, all 
supported by site percolation tests to BRE 365.

 Lighting. Any provision for external lighting, if any, should be minimal, low level and 
respectful of the South Downs National Park and Four Marks Village Design Statements 
dark skies policies. We request the same Condition as applied to the EHDC Planning 
Committee Decisions 28th March 2019 for applications 56027/014 /15 & /16. No external 
lighting shall be installed on the site without the prior written authorisation of the Local 
Planning Authority. Reason - To protect the rural character and appearance of the area 
and the intrinsic qualities of dark night skies.

 Commercial Activity. As per the condition on the Briar Lodge site, "No commercial 
activities shall take place on the land, including the storage of materials. Reason - In the 
interest of the amenity and character and appearance of the area."

Four Marks Parish Council - Response to amended plan:

The amendments have been noted and acknowledge the applicant's disposition to address 
concerns raised.

Representations

106 objections have been received raising the following concerns:

a) The site is too small to accommodate two pitches;
b) The proposal will result in loss of privacy to the adjoining properties;
c) The development would not be sustainable;
d) There is a lack of facilities in Four Marks to sustain further development; 
e) The permanent day room building would dominate the site;
f) Alton Lane is a narrow lane with no pavement;
g) The use may generate unacceptable noise;
h) Permission should not be granted as the site is outside the settlement boundary as there 

is not a genuine or proven need;
i) The applicant has cleared the site resulting in the loss of trees and wildlife habitat;
j) Four Marks has already accommodated a significant amount of gypsy accommodation for 

the District;
k) The development would be out of keeping with the properties in the lane;
l) Access is unsafe;
m) The site is 1.2 miles by road to facilities in Four Marks;
n) The site would be dominated by hard standing, which is out of keeping with the area;
o) Regardless of the five-year land supply position, the site is not suitable;
p) The layout contravenes fire regulations;
q) There is no evidence that the sewage treatment plant is fit for purpose;



r) No provision for children's play space has been made;
s) The proposal is contrary to local and national policy;
t) Water supply in Alton Lane is poor;
u) The quality of the application is poor;
v) There is now a five year supply so supply should no longer be a material consideration

Determining Issues

1. Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and the principle of the development
2. Visual impact and impact on the character and appearance of the area
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
4. Highway implications
5. Drainage and flood risk
6. The planning balance

Planning Considerations 

1. Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and the principle of the development
The following sets out the planning policy context for gypsy/traveller accommodation.  
National advice
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states the housing needs of different groups 
in the community, including travellers, should be assessed and reflected in planning policies.  
National planning policy for travellers is set out in detail in the Planning Policy for Traveller 
Sites, 2015 (PPTS) and is a material consideration.  Policy H of the PPTS requires 
applications for gypsy sites to be assessed in accordance with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development set out in the Framework, and with regard to the application of 
specific policies in both the Framework and the PPTS.  
The Government's overarching aim in the PPTS "...is to ensure fair and equal treatment for 
travellers, in a way that facilitates the traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while 
respecting the interests of the settled community."  
To achieve this aim, local planning authorities should make their own assessment of need for 
such sites within their area for the purposes of planning and "...should set pitch targets for 
gypsies and travellers and plot targets for travelling show people which address the likely 
permanent and transit site accommodation needs of travellers in their area, working 
collaboratively with neighbouring local planning authorities."  
It requires Councils to address the need for traveller accommodation and to maintain a five-
year supply of deliverable land for traveller pitches. Policy H of the PPTS sets out the criteria 
relevant to determining applications for traveller sites and states sites away from existing 
settlements should be strictly limited and that sites in rural areas should respect the scale of, 
and do not dominate, the nearest settled community.  



Consideration should thus be given as to the whether the site is in open countryside and 
away from a settlement; its relationship to the nearest settled community and whether it would 
place undue pressure on local infrastructure. When determining planning applications for 
traveller sites, the PPTS states the following issues should be considered: 
a) the existing level of local provision and need for sites;
b) the availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants;
c) other personal circumstances of the applicant;
d) that the locally specific criteria used to guide the allocation of sites in plans or which form 
the policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to assess 
applications that may come forward on unallocated sites;
e) that they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those with 
local connections. 
Policy H of the PPTS goes on to state weight should be attached to the following matters:
a) whether the proposal makes effective use of previously developed, untidy or derelict land;
b) sites being well planned or landscaped in such a way as to positively enhance the 
environment;
c) ensure adequate landscaping and play space; and
d) not enclose a site with so much hard landscaping that the impression may be given that the 
site and its occupants are deliberately isolated from the rest of the community. 
The Development Plan
Planning law as set out in Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
and Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require that applications for 
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF and the PPTS are material 
considerations. 
Policy CP19 of the East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy (JCS) operates a policy of 
general restraint on development outside settlement policy boundaries, unless there is a 
genuine and proven need for a countryside location. Policy CP19 is considered alongside 
PPTS para 25, which says, “Local planning authorities should very strictly limit new traveller 
site development in open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas 
allocated in the development plan”. Whilst CP19 seeks a need for a countryside location, and 
it is accepted that whilst many Traveller pitches are located in the countryside this does not 
constitute a specific need for this location as there are examples across the country of pitches 
within settlements, however PPTS (para 25) does suggest acceptance of pitches potentially 
being located in the countryside (that is not open countryside) that have a relationship with a 
settlement (i.e. could be outside of settlement as long as not in open countryside that is away 
from the settlement). 
Policy CP15 states planning permission for permanent and transit sites for gypsies, travellers 
and travelling show people will be granted if the site accords with a number of criteria. An 
assessment of the proposal against each of the criteria set out in policy CP15 is set out below 
and all other relevant policy considerations are addressed in the following sections. 



Policy 1 of the Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan supports development within 
the settlement boundaries defined by the Neighbourhood Plan. The site is outside the 
Settlement Policy Boundary shown on the policies map Inset 3 of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
Traveller site need and five-year land supply position
The Council's current assessment of need is based on the Gypsy Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) 2017. The GTAA identifies a need for 25 traveller pitches in the period to 
2036 and within the period 2017-2022, the need is for 19 pitches. The five-year position 
statement is set out in the 'East Hampshire Five Year Supply of deliverable land for Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople' as at 31 March 2019. This concludes that the current 
five-year supply position is 3.8 years.
However, since the 31 March 2019, six further pitches have been granted planning 
permission. These additional pitches provide further supply, exceeding five years' worth. 
When the supply figure is recalculated in the next monitoring report, the District would likely 
be able to demonstrate a five year supply of sites, subject to current supply being considered 
deliverable at that point in time.
This report therefore acknowledges there to have been a material change in the 5 year supply 
position since 31 March 2019 as a result of recent planning permissions, which will likely be 
confirmed at the next monitoring period. This, however, will be subject to permissions still 
being considered deliverable at that point in time. It should though be noted that the five year 
supply is calculated against the baseline (minimum) need figure, for example, the GTAA did 
not manage to interview any gypsy/travellers currently in bricks and mortar housing, yet it is 
known from census data there are many, which may generate additional need and it only 
affords a 10% allowance arising from such unknown need. As such, it is acknowledged that 
the need may be higher.
Having a five year supply does not mean that all new planning applications can be refused, 
but rather gives the LPA strength to resist sites which it considers are not suitable.
Assessment of the suitability of the site
Notwithstanding the land supply position, the PPTS states, "Local planning authorities should 
very strictly limit new traveller site development in open countryside that is away from existing 
settlements or outside areas allocated in the development plan. Local planning authorities 
should ensure that sites in rural areas respect the scale of, and do not dominate, the nearest 
settled community, and avoid placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure."  The site 
falls outside the Four Marks settlement boundary, but it is adjoined by development on two 
sides and is within close proximity to Four Marks. Such proposals are often located outside of 
settlement policy boundaries, but in this instance, the location is close to facilities and 
services in Four Marks and it is not considered to be in an isolated rural location "away" from 
a settlement. A more detailed assessment of the site in terms of landscape impact and 
neighbouring amenity and other planning considerations is set out below.
An Inspector, when allowing planning permission for the permanent use of a traveller site 
close to the settlement policy boundary of Liphook stated, "Policy CP15 refers to convenience 
of services rather than remoteness and, whilst the site lacks contiguity with other residential 
development, I find that the appeal site is well placed to benefit from its proximity to Liphook 
and would thereby be relatively convenient to community facilities." 



 These comments are considered to be equally applicable to this application and the site is 
considered suitable in terms of its location. Although some objectors refer to the lack of 
facilities in the village to accommodate further development, there is no evidence that the 
proposal would place an unacceptable level of harm on local infrastructure. 
Consideration of the application against the criteria of the PPTS
Policy H of PPTS provides guidance for determining planning applications for traveller sites. 
Policy H says that the following issues, amongst other relevant matters, should be 
considered.  
"a) the existing level of local provision and need for sites 
The Hampshire Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA 2017) document 
shows the current need in East Hampshire is 25 pitches by 2036. Since the base date of the 
GTAA, 8 pitches have been completed and there are 15 pitches with planning permission. 
There remains a small level of need up to 2036. 
It is noted the need is not a ceiling target and regard is also given to wider needs and 
potential needs from 'unknowns' and those currently residing in bricks and mortar 
accommodation. As such, need for sites is likely to be greater than stated in the GTAA. 
b) the availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants 
There is no known available alternative traveller accommodation in the District.  
c) other personal circumstances of the applicant 
The applicant does not seek a personal permission, therefore personal circumstances of 
prospective residents are not considered and weighed in the determination of this 
application. 
d) that the locally specific criteria used to guide the allocation of sites in plans or which form 
the policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to assess 
applications that may come forward on unallocated sites 
The local specific criteria are set out in Policy CP15 of the Joint Core Strategy and an 
assessment of the scheme against this policy is set out below.  
e) that they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those with 
local connections. 
This is a non-personal application, seeking permission for a Gypsy and Traveller pitch. Local 
connections of prospective residents or the applicant are not a consideration. 
Policy H of PPTS states that when considering a planning application for Traveller sites, 
weight should be attached to the following matters:  
"a) effective use of previously developed (brownfield), untidy or derelict land 
The site has been cleared of trees / scrub and is not considered to be previously developed 
land. 
b) sites being well planned or soft landscaped in such a way as to positively enhance the 
environment and increase its openness 
This is considered against policy CP15 below and in the section on the impact on the 
character and appearance of the area below.  



c) promoting opportunities for healthy lifestyles, such as ensuring adequate landscaping and 
play areas for children 
The site would provide two pitches for the travelling community who would have access to 
medical facilities, recreation, schooling for children and other amenities which would promote 
opportunities for healthy lifestyles. 
d) not enclosing a site with so much hard landscaping, high walls or fences, that the 
impression may be given that the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated from the rest 
of the community" 
The scheme does not propose high walls or fencing so as to isolate the occupants from the 
rest of the community. The landscape impacts of the scheme is assessed further below.  
Policy H of PPTS says:
"Local planning authorities should very strictly limit new traveller site development in open 
countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the 
development plan. Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect 
the scale of, and do not dominate, the nearest settled community, and avoid placing an undue 
pressure on the local infrastructure." 
There are three separate considerations identified in this paragraph, firstly whether the site is 
within open countryside; secondly, the sites' relationship to the nearest settled community and 
thirdly, whether ‘undue’ pressure is placed on local infrastructure.  The existing presence of 
traveller accommodation in an area, or a potential disproportionate distribution of traveller 
accommodation across the district does not necessarily result in proposals of additional 
traveller accommodation in such a locality being contrary to this part of Policy H.  
Open countryside 
The site is positioned between residential properties on Alton Lane, which comprises sporadic 
residential, agricultural, equestrian and commercial development and the site is considered to 
be close to facilities and services in Four Marks. 
Relationship to the nearest settlement 
The site is approximately 800m from the A31 and the main cluster of facilities in Four Marks, 
which is considered to be an accessible distance. The facilities within Four Marks includes 
transport links, shops, schools, a community hall and doctors' surgery.   
Pressure on local infrastructure 
The proposal for two further gypsy pitches should not place undue pressure on local 
infrastructure. This issue has been raised as a concern in a number of objections received, 
however, there is no evidence to substantiate a harmful impact on infrastructure.
Consideration of the application against Policy CP15 of the JCS - Gypsies, travellers and 
travelling show people 
Policy CP15 of the JCS, stipulates: 
Planning permission for permanent and transit sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Show people will be granted if the site:

a) meets a need as identified by the local planning authority's accommodation assessment; 



The proposal would go towards a recognised unmet need identified in the Local Planning 
Authority's Accommodation Assessment for Gypsies and Travellers (GTAA), i.e. 25 pitches by 
2036. Whilst, following recent planning permissions, the Council is likely to be able to 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable sites, which updates the position from the 
3.8year supply figure quoted in the last monitoring report, there remains a small unmet need 
over the longer period.   
b) is located conveniently for access to schools, medical services and other community 
facilities; 
The site is located approximately 800m south of Four Marks and would therefore be 
convenient to access services and facilities. Four Marks primary school is located 
approximately 1.15km south west of the site at the end of Alton Lane.   
c) has adequate provision for access, parking, turning and servicing; 
The County Highway Authority has been consulted and raised no objection, commenting that 
the proposal would not have an impact on the local highway network.  There is adequate 
provision for parking and turning and the proposal would utilise an existing access. Some 
objectors have commented on the absence of allocated visitor spaces, however, there is 
clearly adequate space within the site to accommodate visitor vehicles. 
d) is capable of accommodating the number of caravans/mobile homes proposed; 
The land would be capable of accommodating the proposed pitches. Concerns have been 
received from neighbours regarding fire risk and whether the scheme conforms with Model 
Standards 2008. However, the Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service have confirmed they 
have no objection and that the layout conforms with the Model Standards. 
e) can be adequately screened or landscaped to blend the site into its surroundings;  
The site is set between two properties and some trees/hedging to the road front provides 
some screening from Alton Lane. Additional boundary hedging is proposed. The site is not 
visible in the wider landscape and it is considered that there would not be any significant 
visual harm to the character and appearance of the area. See further appraisal of the 
landscape impacts below.  
f) is capable of being provided with essential services and does not put undue pressure on 
local infrastructure and services; 
The provision of two further gypsy pitches on the land should not put undue pressure on local 
infrastructure and services.
and 
g) in addition for transit sites, it is accessible to the main transport routes through the District. 
The proposal is not for a transit site and so (g) is not applicable. 
In view of the above, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with policy CP15 of the 
JCS and the advice contained in the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 2015.



2. Visual impact and impact on the character and appearance of the area
Policy CP20 of the JCS requires development proposals to conserve and enhance the 
District's natural environment. Development is required to protect and enhance local 
distinctiveness, sense of place and tranquility and accord with the principles set out in the 
East Hampshire Landscape Character Assessment.
Alton Lane is rural in character and comprises linear development, mostly composed of 
residential properties of varying styles, but generally set in spacious plots with trees and 
hedging lining the road sides.  There are views from the road to fields to either side of Alton 
Lane and a garden centre just to the east of the site is a dominant feature of the road towards 
its eastern end.
The proposed pitches would be positioned approximately 16m into the site from the edge of 
Alton Lane, in line with the front of 'Coombe Dell' to the south.  Vegetation along Alton Lane 
means the site is not visible within the street scene except for the immediate section of road 
in front of the site.  Having regard to the pattern of development either side of the site and 
Alton Lane generally and the existing and proposed planting to the boundaries of the site, the 
proposal would not result in a harmful impact on the character and appearance of the area.  A 
public footpath runs southwards from the garden centre and to the eastern side of a mature 
hedge, approximately 70m to the rear of the site.  Due to the field hedge providing screening, 
it is considered the proposal would not have a detrimental impact on views from the public 
footpath.   A landscaping condition is proposed to secure the proposed boundary landscaping 
together with details of any fencing to the boundary with the neighbouring Coombe Dell. 
The PPTS states "Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect 
the scale of, and do not dominate, the nearest settled community, and avoid placing undue 
pressure on the local infrastructure." Some concerns have been received from third parties 
about the level of gypsy accommodation in the area. However, recent planning permissions 
for gypsy pitches in Willis Lane are approximately 0.5km south-east of the site and would not 
be visually linked to the site or otherwise impact on Alton Lane. A condition regarding external 
lighting to help protect the rural character of the area is also recommended.  
The proposal is considered to accord with policy CP20 of the JCS and the advice contained in 
the PPTS.
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
Policy CP27 of the JCS sets out that development will not be permitted if it would have an 
unacceptable effect on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss 
of privacy or through excessive overshadowing.  
The site is positioned between 'Coombe Dell' to the south and 'Teazles' to the north. In terms 
of the impact on Teazles, there is a mature boundary hedge and (to the rear part of the site) a 
1.8m high fence that forms the shared boundary, which screens the site and the proposal 
would not overlook or result in overshadowing of this property. 
In terms of the impact on Coombe Dell, this property is situated on slightly lower ground and 
the shared boundary is formed by a post and rail fence with some sections of hedging. 
Coombe Dell is a detached chalet style bungalow with a first floor window facing the site and 
its rear elevation has oblique views towards the site.  



The proposed caravans and day room would not result in unacceptable loss of privacy or 
excessive overshadowing to Coombe Dell and whilst the proposed layout plan proposes 
hedging to the shared boundary, it is considered a fence would be a more appropriate means 
to provide enclosure and privacy to this boundary. 
The proposed use of the site for two family units would result in additional vehicle movements 
and activity that would create some additional noise and disturbance, however this would not 
be excessive or unduly harmful to the residential amenity of either of the adjoining properties 
and the proposal is considered to accord with policy CP27 of the JCS. 
4. Highway implications
Policy CP31 of the JCS requires development proposals to accord with a number of criteria.  
Vehicular access to the site (both pitches) would be retained with Alton Lane to the north of 
the frontage of the site with the road.  The County Highway Authority have raised no 
objection. The increase in traffic that would be generated by the proposal is not considered to 
result in significant impacts on the safety of the highway and the proposal is considered to 
accord with policy CP31 of the JCS.  Some objections received comment on the absence of 
visitor parking spaces from the proposed layout, however, it is clear that there is adequate 
room for additional vehicles at the front of the site and the proposal is considered to accord 
with the adopted East Hampshire Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning 
Document.  
5. Drainage and flood risk
The site is Flood Zone 1 (areas at low risk of flooding). The application proposes to increase 
the area of hard surfaces on the site with a surface water soakaway in the eastern corner of 
the site. Policy CP25 of the JCS requires to ensure that there is no net increase in surface 
water from the site, which may increase flood risk elsewhere. Foul waste is to a package 
treatment plant also to the south-east of the site. The Council's Drainage Consultant is 
satisfied that ground conditions allow for a soakaway system and raises no objection to the 
proposal, subject to a standard condition concerning foul and surface water feature 
specifications, subject to which, the proposal is considered to accord with policy CP25 of the 
JCS.
6. The Planning Balance
The starting point for determining the application should be whether the site is suitable for the 
intended use. The currently published five year supply position (3.8 years) does not account 
for subsequent planning permissions and the Council considers it is now able to demonstrate 
a five year supply. As the Council can demonstrate a five year supply of sites, the 'tilted 
balance' in favour of development is not considered to be engaged. However, the presence of 
a five year supply does not engage a presumption against development and the application 
must be assessed against the policies of the Development Plan with regard to all other 
material considerations. It should also be noted that housing figures are neither a ceiling or a 
target.  
As set out in the above report, it is considered the site is suitable and acceptable as a 
permanent traveller site and that the grant of planning permission for two pitches to meet the 
needs of the gypsy community, on land which is available and deliverable now is a benefit 
that carries weight in support of the application.  The site is though located outside of an 
established settlement policy boundary. 



Policy CP2 of the JCS directs development to sustainable locations (defined as areas within 
established settlement boundaries) in order to secure resource efficient housing.  Policy CP19 
of the JCS states that the approach to development in the countryside "is to operate a policy 
of general restraint in order to protect the countryside for its own sake."  The policy should 
though be read in conjunction with the PPTS and policy CP15, which deals specifically with 
gypsy accommodation. The supporting text to policy CP19 clarifies that the purpose of the 
policy is to protect the countryside for its intrinsic character and beauty, landscape, heritage 
and wildlife. 
As set out in the above report, it is considered the proposal would not result in unacceptable 
harm to the landscape or character and appearance of the area and that the scheme is 
considered to accord with policy CP20 of the JCS.  The site is positioned between 
development and the proposed scheme would be contained in views from Alton Lane and the 
wider area in all but the immediate roadside area to the front of the site and restricted, 
glimpsed views from the public footpath to the south. In such views, the development would 
be seen in context with surrounding development. The proposed hardstanding and the 
appearance of caravans and the day room would though result in a change to the character 
and appearance of the site, however, the impact would be very localised and mitigated by 
hedgerow retention and further planting to the front of the site (as proposed on the plans and 
secured through condition). There would be some harm to the intrinsic rural character and 
appearance of the site, however the impact is considered to be minimal and it would not 
unacceptably harm the character and appearance of harm. The change to the character of 
the site is considered to carry limited weight against the proposal in terms of the objective of 
policy CP19 of protecting the countryside for its own sake, noting that the proposal is 
considered to accord with the landscape policy (CP20) of the JCS and the relevant criteria of 
the PPTS.
With regards to the spatial strategy set out in policy CP2 of the JCS and the location of the 
site relative to the settlement boundary, it is considered the site is beyond a convenient walk 
to facilities and services in Four Marks and the development would likely result in a 
requirement for additional vehicular movements to access shops, public transport links (on 
Winchester Road) and the primary school. However, such vehicular movements would be 
short and the site is considered to be reasonably sustainably located to access the 
community and facilities and services.  Whilst the scheme is outside the settlement boundary, 
the PPTA acknowledges that gypsy sites may be located in the countryside, and only restricts 
sites that are 'away' from existing settlements. The site is contiguous with residential 
development in Alton Lane and the site is considered to have a relationship with the 
settlement and any harm arising from the likelihood of additional vehicular movements to 
access facilities is given limited weight against the proposal. 
The planning balance remains in support of the scheme having regard to the contribution it 
makes to general gypsy accommodation need and the assessment of the scheme against the 
Development Plan and the criteria of the PPTS. The NPPF (para 59) states that to support 
the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, “it is important that 
a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed and that the 
needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed”. This proposal will make a 
positive contribution towards addressing the needs of a group with specific housing 
requirements and the planning balance is in support of the proposal. 



It is considered that, in view of the acceptability of the site, a general permission for gypsy use 
of the site is appropriate and that it is not necessary or justified to condition any permission to 
the applicant. Conditions are proposed however to restrict the occupation of the site to one 
family per pitch and to persons who fit with the definition of a traveller as set out in Annex 1 of 
the PPTS. 

Response to Parish/Town Council Comments

Four Marks Parish Council submitted a comprehensive response to the application, raising a 
number of issues. 

Firstly, concern was raised regarding the adequacy of the submitted layout plan. This has 
been revised and provides greater clarity on the proposed layout and landscaping. Comments 
in respect of highway matters and landscaping have been addressed in the above report, but 
for clarity, it is considered that there is adequate room within the site for parking and turning 
as well as visitor parking space and that the proposed landscaping, subject to further details 
through condition are acceptable.  Reference is made to the provision of children's play area, 
which is a point referred to in the PPTS.  However, given the scale of development is just two 
pitches, it is not considered necessary for a specific play area to be included within the site, 
with amenity space shown within the rear section of the site. 

The Parish Council, along with some of the third party representations raise concern in 
respect of safety, particularly fire risk.  The Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service raised no 
objection and are satisfied that cars could be parked more than 3m from the adjacent units' 
caravan, in accordance with standards. 

The Parish Council state that the Parish has provided over 50% of the District's need for 
gypsy and traveller accommodation and that this should be weighed into the decision making. 
It is also stated that a new five-year supply position should be calculated. It is not clear on 
what basis the 50% figure is based, but nevertheless, the Local Planning Authority must 
determine applications on their merits as and where they are submitted. The PPTS (para 25) 
states local planning authorities, "should ensure that sites in rural areas respect the scale of, 
and do not dominate, the nearest settled community and avoid placing undue pressure on 
local infrastructure." The proposal is for two gypsy pitches and it is considered that it would 
not dominate the surrounding settled community in Alton Lane in isolation or in combination 
with gypsy pitches in Willis Lane to the south. The recent planning permissions for gypsy sites 
on Willis Lane are considered to be unrelated to the site, with no visual or physical link. 

The PPTS requires local planning authorities to identify and update annually, a supply of 
specific deliverable sites to provide 5 years supply against locally set targets. The published 
supply position is at 31 March 2019 (3.8 years) but it is acknowledged that recent planning 
permissions are likely to have resulted in the Council now establishing a five year supply of 
sites. However, that does not mean the application can simply be refused as it is necessary to 
have regard to wider need and the suitability of the site. The above report identifies that there 
is no such over riding harm having regard to all other matters and policies. 



Finally, conditions listed by the Parish Council are noted and conditions are recommended 
with respect to drainage, landscaping, no commercial activity being carried out on the land 
and no external lighting without the agreement of the local planning authority. 

Conclusion

The application must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance it is considered that a location 
outside of an established settlement boundary is justified and that the site is suitably located 
relative to Four Marks. The application is considered to accord with the Development Plan 
and all of the criteria set out in policy CP15 of the JCS and with regard to all other material 
considerations, including the PPTS; the proposal would not result in harm to the local highway 
network, amenity of adjoining development and would not result in unacceptable harm to the 
character and appearance of the area. 
The Planning Policy for Traveller Sites is a material consideration. It requires that local 
planning authorities identify needs for traveller accommodation and that it maintains a five-
year supply of deliverable sites. The Gypsy Traveller Accommodation Assessment (2017) 
identifies a need for 19 pitches in the period 2017-2022 and whilst the Council is now likely to 
be able to demonstrate a five year supply, there is still requirement to address need and the 
site is considered suitable having regard to all other material considerations.  

RECOMMENDATION   PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this planning permission.
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990

2 The site shall not be occupied by any persons other than gypsies and 
travellers as defined in Annex 1: Glossary, paragraph 1 of the Planning 
Policy for Traveller Sites, August 2015, or any documents that 
supersedes or revises this definition.
Reason - The site lies in a locality where permission would not normally 
be granted for residential development.

3 No more than 4 caravans as defined in the Caravan Sites and Control of 
Development Act 1960 and the Caravans Sites Act 1968 (or any 
subsequent legislation that defines caravans), shall be stationed on the 
site at any time, of which only 2 caravans shall be static caravans. 
Reason - To control the level of residential use on the land, and in the 
interests of amenity. 

4 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for foul 
and surface water drainage has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  Such details should include 
provision for all surface water drainage from parking areas and areas of 



hardstanding to prevent surface water from discharging onto the highway 
and should be based on site investigation and percolation tests.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
before any part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained 
thereafter.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such details 
need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission.
Note: The applicant is requested to contact the Council's Drainage 
Consultant as soon as possible to discuss the details required for the 
discharge of the above condition.

5 The utility/day rooms hereby permitted shall be restricted to use as 
ancillary accommodation to the caravan site from which they shall not be 
let, sold separately, or severed thereafter.
Reason - The site is in an area where a new dwelling would not normally 
be permitted.

6 No commercial activities shall take place on the land, including the 
storage of materials.
Reason - In the interest of the amenity of surrounding property and the 
character and appearance of the area.  

7 No external floodlighting shall at any time be erected or installed at the 
site, unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason - To protect the rural character and appearance of the area and 
the intrinsic qualities of dark night skies. 

8 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until 
a fully detailed landscape and planting scheme for the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Such details shall include all hard and soft landscaping and boundary 
treatment details. The works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details and in accordance with the recommendations of the 
appropriate British Standards or other recognised codes of good practice. 
Hard boundary treatment features shall be erected prior to the first use of 
the development hereby approved and retained thereafter; soft 
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting season after practical 
completion or first occupation of the development, whichever is earlier, 
unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size 
and number as originally approved unless a suitable alternative species 
are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.



Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to 
enable proper consideration to be given to the impact of the proposed 
development on existing trees.

9 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application form
CIL form Additional information
Location plan
Block plan
Planning Statement
Sewage Treatment plant details
Elevations 
Floor plan

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development

Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 The proposed development referred to in this planning permission is a 
chargeable development liable to pay Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) under Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations (as 
amended)

In accordance with CIL Regulation 65, East Hampshire District Council 
will issue a Liability Notice in respect of the chargeable development 
referred to in this planning permission as soon as practicable after the 
day on which planning permission first permits development.  Further 
details on the Council’s CIL process can be found on the East Hampshire 
District Council website:
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Planning%20C
ontributions%20and%20CIL%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Docum
ent%20-%20April%202016.pdf

2 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by:

 offering a pre-application advice service,



 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions.

In this instance the applicant was provided with pre-application advice 
and was updated of any issues after the initial site visit. 

CASE OFFICER: Jon Holmes 01730 234243
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1  Item  01  Land between Coombe Dell and Teazles, Alton Lane, Four Marks, 
Alton

Proposed site plan


	Agenda
	 
	6. Future Items
	7.(i) 58000/002/FUL/JonH - Land between Coombe Dell and Teazles, Alton Lane, Four Marks, Alton

